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for disorders of the 

immune system



Cyxone in Three Minutes

Cyxone - an Innovative Biotechnology Company in Clinical Phase
Cyxone develops disease modifying therapies for rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis as 

well as treatments for virally induced acute respiratory disorders. With three unique programs, 

Cyxone is well positioned to deliver substantial benefits for patients, the health care system as 

well as for its shareholders.

The company currently has three unique clinical-phase projects, all developing towards important and potential-

ly value-creating milestones:

• Rabeximod, which is a compound that has gone through a Phase 2a clinical trial in rheumatoid arthritis (RA)

• Rabeximod as a treatment for Covid-19, currently performing a Phase 2 trial

• T20K as a new treatment for multiple sclerosis (MS)

• Cyxone was founded in 2015 and its stock is traded on Nasdaq First North Growth Market since 2016
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Loss before tax

-49,000
KSEK

(2019: -17,229*)

Cash & cash equivalents

56,343
KSEK

(2019: 61,756*)

Total assets

72,152
KSEK

(2019: 75,085*)

Earnings per share

-0.96
SEK

(2019: -0.39*)

Equity/assets ratio

93.0
%

(2019: 95.5*)

Interim Report Q1

Annual General Meeting

Half-Year Report

Interim Report Q3

Year-End Report

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 2019-07-30 to 2019-12-31.

Key Figures

Year in Brief Financial Calendar

29 January 2020

Cyxone announced in January that 

the company has ordered more 

Rabeximod substance earlier than 

planned

20 May 2020

Dr Tara Heitner appointed new CEO

23 March 2020

The Medical University of Vienna 

filed a new patent application in 

March for extended protection of 

T20K, included in Cyxone’s license 

agreement

10 June 2020

Cyxone entered a development ag-

reement with inventor Kalev Kask

6 July 2020

Cyxone signed agreement with Dr 

Maarten Kraan as Senior Scientific 

Advisor

Increased staff by 100%  

(from 3 to 6 employees)

15 December 2020

Cyxone has filed an IND in the US 

with Rabeximod following positive 

feed-back from pre-IND meeting 

with the FDA

10 June 2020

Cyxone filed new patent applica-

tions following additional innovation 

achievements

8 July 2020

Cyxone signed agreement with 

Professor Rikard Holmdahl as Senior 

Scientific Advisor

30 October 2020

Cyxone announced positive results 

from regulatory toxicology studies 

of Rabeximod

15 January 2021

Cyxone reported first Covid-19 

patient screened in Phase 2 clinical 

trial of Rabeximod

Cyxone initiated a Phase 2 clinical 

trial with Rabeximod in Covid-19 

patients
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Comments from the CEO
The year 2020 will be remembered for decades to come. Large parts of the world were locked down and we 

all had to deal with a completely new reality. For biotech companies around the globe the pandemic created 

an intense period of work.

“in a future where the Covid-19 pandemic hopefully lies 
behind us, there will still be a need for efficient drugs in 
patients suffering from acute respiratory distress as a 
result from other infec tions, such as seasonal influenza. ”

Tara Heitner, CEO Cyxone

cifically targets the inflammatory macrophage and inhibits the 

release of cytokines, we realized there is huge opportunity to 

develop it also as a treatment for Covid-19. We started pre-

paring for a clinical development program and during the au-

tumn we received approval from the regulatory authority and 

the ethics committee in Poland to initiate a Phase 2 clinical 

trial in moderate Covid-19 patients. We also filed an Investiga-

tional New Drug (IND) application with the US Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA). The IND, which was promptly approved 

by the authority, covers the development of Rabeximod in 

Covid-19 and other indications, such as rheumatoid arthritis, 

and is a prerequisite for a future validation of the company’s 

five recent patent applications in the US market.

In January 2021, the first patient was screened in the Phase 2 

clinical trial of Rabeximod in Covid-19. The study will include 

300 patients at clinical centers in Poland, Slovakia and up to 

three additional countries in Europe and we expect to announ-

ce preliminary results in the third quarter of 2021. Given a posi-

As an industry, we knew that we had to be the ones to find 

the solution to the world pandemic. At the same time, we had 

to face the challenge of a completely overloaded healthcare 

system interrupting and delaying a vast amount of clinical 

development. This called for creativity and openness to new 

solutions and possibilities.

For Cyxone the pandemic led to a shift in focus. A few weeks 

into the pandemic it became clear that the patients who be-

came severely ill or died in the Covid-19-infection often suffe-

red from an immune overreaction in the lungs. Overactivated 

macrophages infiltrating the lungs start to release excessive 

amounts of cytokines in some patients, creating a cytokine 

storm that leads to acute respiratory distress and eventually 

organ failure that can cause death.

Rabeximod in clinical phase 2 study for Covid-19
As our drug candidate Rabeximod – which is primarily being 

developed as an oral treatment for rheumatoid arthritis – spe-
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tive study outcome, Cyxone intends to find a strategic partner 

for the project and apply for emergency use authorization.

Medical need of treatment for Covid-19
Performing research and development on a moving target 

like the Covid-19 pandemic is of course challenging. The fact 

that no one can predict how the pandemic will develop in the 

coming years adds complexity both to the R&D strategy and 

to the commercialization. Still, it is evident that the pandemic 

will continue to be a major health burden on the world for the 

coming year and we need to be prepared and vigilant due to 

the potential emergence of new variants which may elude the 

current vaccines, the unknown durability of the vaccinations 

and the emergence of new virusal outbreaks in the future. The 

challenge of vaccine production and equitable distribution 

need also be taken into consideration as this has limited the 

effect of vaccines so far. Educational campaigns to ensure 

people accept the vaccine worldwide are also part of the 

complex equation for success. Ultimately, there will be a need 

for treatments that can substantially decrease the risk for se-

vere illness for those who still get infected or for new variants 

that may emerge. In that field, Cyxone’s Rabeximod is well po-

sitioned with its unique mode of action that is not confined to 

a single virus. Also, in a future where the Covid-19 pandemic 

hopefully lies behind us, there will still be a need for efficient 

drugs in patients suffering from acute respiratory distress as a 

result from other infections, such as seasonal influenza. 

Review of Cyxone’s development programs
Even if the pandemic created a shift in focus for Cyxone, we 

managed to keep up the pace in the other projects in our 

pipeline. As incoming CEO of Cyxone, I promptly initiated 

a review of the development program for Rabeximod as a 

treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and for T20K in multiple 

sclerosis (MS). 

Rabeximod for rheumatoid arthritis
Rabeximod has a unique mode of action with potential to 

improve quality of life for many RA patients, but to reach its full 

potential it is important that the upcoming studies are desig-

ned in a way that captures the full value of the treatment. In 

this work it has been of uttermost value that we have attracted 

both Dr. Maarten Kraan and Professor Rikard Holmdahl as 

Senior Scientific Advisors. As a result of the revised develop-

ment plan, we filed five new patents to extend exclusivity on 

Rabeximod, potentially to 2043, including a patent application 

related to Covid-19. In October we received the full results of 

the six-month regulatory toxicology studies of Rabeximod that 

showed a favorable safety profile, thus enabling longer clinical 

studies in patients – up to six months. We now plan for initiation 

of a phase 2b trial of Rabeximod in RA patients later in 2021. 

T20K for multiple sclerosis
In our third project, T20K as a treatment of Multiple Sclerosis 

(MS), the focus is now on developing a more user-friendly 

administration. T20K has previously been administered as a 

microdose in an intravenous formulation, but we see a greater 

potential for the drug candidate should we develop a more 

convenient formulation. In our current IND-enabling preclinical 

investigations we focus both on finding the best formulation 

and adding knowledge about the specific mode-of-action to 

specify the optimal positioning for T20K as a treatment of MS.

Strengthened financial position
During 2020, we strengthened our financial position through 

a directed issue of units of approximately SEK 19 million that 

was carried out through an accelerated book-building proce-

dure, together with an issue of warrants to current sharehol-

ders. A fully exercised option agreement with Dr. Kalev Kask, 

who has played a key role in the initiative to develop Rabex-

imod for Covid-19, additionally brought in a total of SEK 21.8 

million before transaction costs. 

Looking forward
In my first year as CEO of Cyxone it has been an important first 

task to optimize the development plans for our key assets and 

make sure that we use our resources in the most efficient way. 

I have also put a lot of effort in strengthening our team and se-

curing access to external competencies. To this end, I am de-

lighted that we have been able to attract Christine Arrhenius 

Bokedal as new Head of Development, and Sally Abdelmoaty 

as Project Leader. Together with our experienced scientific 

advisors, we can ensure that the further development of our 

drug programs is performed in a way that builds most value 

for both patients and our shareholders. As the pandemic has 

meant both challenges and opportunities for Cyxone I can 

now say that we are more prepared than ever to tackle any 

hurdle and capitalize on every opportunity, and I am confident 

that 2021 will be as exciting as 2020.  

Tara Heitner 
CEO Cyxone
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Business Strategy, Vision and Aims

Aiming Towards Improving Quality of Life
With three unique projects, all developing towards important and potentially value-

creating milestones, Cyxone is well positioned to deliver consequential benefits for pa-

tients, the health care system as well as for its shareholders. Cyxone’s goal is to out-licen-

se projects to strong partners after Phase 2 clinical trials to maximize their potential.

Business Strategy
Cyxone is well positioned with three unique projects, all of which are developed to achieve important and 

potential value-creating milestones. The purpose of these studies is to develop drugs that benefit patients, 

health and the healthcare system as well as the shareholders. Cyxone’s goal is to license projects to resour-

ceful partners after Phase 2 clinical trials.

Vision
Cyxone’s vision is to develop first in class therapeutics that markedly improve the quality of life for patients 

based on recent understandings of the disease mechanism. The company’s drugs are designed not only 

to be efficacious, but also more convenient for patients to take, have fewer and milder side-effects than 

existing treatments, and well-suited for long-term treatments. By achieving this Cyxone offers patients the 

opportunity to take control of the disease, and thus their lives.

Aims
Cyxone’s overarching aim is the development of new drugs that can make considerable improvement to the 

quality of life of those with severe autoimmune conditions. Today’s drugs can reduce the symptoms of various 

conditions but are often associated with severe side-effects that limit their prolonged use. There is therefore 

a real need for new, effective drugs with less severe and fewer side-effects, and ideally drugs that prevent the 

development of autoimmune conditions, to be able to provide those affected a better quality of life. 

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020
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Operations

Therapeutics that Improve Quality of Life
Cyxone is a Swedish biotech company that develops disease modifying therapies for di-

seases such as rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis as well as treatments for virally 

induced acute respiratory disorders in convenient administration forms.

At Cyxone we consider the unmet need from an alternative perspective. The company’s vision is to develop 

therapeutics that markedly improve the quality of life for patients based on recent understandings of 

the disease mechanism. Our drugs are designed not only to be efficacious, but also more convenient for 

patients to take, have fewer and milder side-effects than existing treatments, and well-suited for long-term 

treatments. By providing this we will offer patients the option of taking control of their disease, and thereby 

their lives.

The company is well positioned to become an important player in the commercially attractive field of disor-

ders of the immune system, aiming at improving patients’ quality of life, lowering health care costs as well 

as creating substantial value for its shareholders.

Cyxone’s Pipeline
Most of the time, the immune system is your best friend. Complex processes and inte-

ractions regulate the body’s defense towards viruses, bacteria and tumor development. 

However, the immune system can also mistakenly attack healthy cells and tissues. Dise-

ases like rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis, as well as potentially fatal overreac-

tions to viral infections, are examples of such disorders of the immune system.

Over the last decade, the treatment of immunological diseases has improved dramatically. However, cur-

rent drugs have several shortcomings, such as adverse side effects, administration forms that often require 

visits to the hospital, and poor response or resistance in some patients.

Against this background, there is a need for efficacious, tolerable and convenient drugs that are able to 

modify or prevent disease progression at an early stage. Bringing such therapies forward is the scope for 

Cyxone’s aspirations in its three development programs within the areas of rheumatoid arthritis, virally 

induced respiratory disorders (such as Covid-19) and multiple sclerosis.

Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

REUMATOID ARTRIT

COVID-19

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020
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Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

REUMATOID ARTRIT

Rabeximod for Reumatoid Arthiritis
Rabeximod is a well-tolerated, orally available Phase 2 candidate drug that selectively targets the inflam-

matory macrophage – the central orchestrator of the inflammatory process – opening for treatment in the 

early as well as later stages of rheumatoid arthritis.

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients suffer from debilitating symptoms such as 

swollen joints, severe pain and stiffness, fever, and fatigue, with severe ne-

gative consequences on their quality of life. A particular feature of RA is the 

irreversible destruction of joint tissue by the immune system, in particular by 

inflammatory macrophages. For decades, the first line treatment has been 

methotrexate, a drug that has hard-to-manage tolerability issues. As the 

disease worsens, many patients require infusions or injections of biological 

drugs. Biologics are often effective but carry safety and side-effect risks. 

These are potentially followed by JAK inhibitors, a new class of oral drugs 

which have been well received but they also have safety risks and are gene-

rally positioned as a second or third-line treatment.

A Unique Mode of Action
Cyxone is developing Rabeximod, a well-tolerated, orally available Phase 2 

candidate drug with a unique mechanism of action. Rabeximod selectively 

targets the inflammatory macrophage, a type of white blood cell which 

is the central orchestrator of the inflammatory process that causes tissue 

destruction and clinical symptoms in RA. Combined with the convenien-

ce of oral administration and a beneficial tolerability profile, this opens for 

treatment in the early as well as later stages of the disease. It is believed to 

be particularly effective at onset and relapses of RA, with good potential to 

prevent joint destruction and progression of the disease.

Project status and next steps

• Rabeximod has been extensively studied 

in Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. Safety 

studies reveal a favorable safety profile 

compared to anti-RA drugs such as anti-TNFα 

monoclonal antibodies and oral JAK inhibitors

• Cyxone is currently optimizing the develop-

ment program for Rabeximod in RA and plans 

to initiate the next clinical study in the latter 

part of 2021

• Cyxone intends to partner or out-license the 

project, to a company with the resources for 

late stage development and commerciali-

zation

• Several new patents have recently been filed 

that extend the patent life and exclusivity 

period of Rabeximod to 2043 when granted, 

as well as increase the therapeutic scope of 

the drug candidate.

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020

Reumatoid Arthiritis8



Rabeximod for Covid-19
Covid-19 can cause widespread inflammation in the lungs, resulting in reduced oxygen levels in the blood. 

In severely affected patients the immune system overreacts, triggering an intense release of cytokines and 

chemokines that leads to hyperinflammation and severe respiratory failure.

Dexamethasone (a corticosteroid) and remdesivir (an antiviral agent) are 

used with some success, but there is a great need for better treatments. 

Antibody drug cocktails are also emerging which may possess similar ability 

to block multiple cytokines but requiring an infusion or injection.

Functions Without Suppressing the General Immune System
Unlike dexamethasone and remdesivir, Cyxone’s drug candidate Rabex-

imod selectively targets the hyperactivated macrophage to suppress it. 

Importantly it does so without suppressing the general immune system. The 

macrophage is the central orchestrator of the inflammatory response in the 

lung causing a cytokine storm that results in a serious reduction of oxygen 

uptake in the lungs, eventually leading to sepsis and general organ failure. 

Rabeximod inhibits the release of multiple cytokines. Inhibition of multiple 

cytokines rather than single cytokines is expected to yield better efficacy in 

Covid-19.

In the case of acute respiratory disorders, the overreaction of the immu-

ne system can progress rapidly to an acute stage – ARDS, but it may be 

possible to prevent this progression if treated early. The favorable tolerabi-

lity and safety profile of Rabeximod as well as its oral formulation make it a 

suitable therapy for patients with moderate Covid-19 disease severity.

It is worth noting that clinical trials in Covid-19 patients and in RA are not in-

terdependent. Should the endpoint not be met in the Covid-19 trial, it would 

not affect the development of Rabeximod as a treatment of rheumatoid 

arthritis. The treatment duration as well as the underlying cause of the two 

diseases differ substantially.

Project status and next steps

• A Phase 2 study was initiated during the 

fourth quarter of 2020. Approximately 300 

hospitalized patients with moderate Covid-19 

disease will be included in this randomized, 

double blind placebo-controlled study to in-

vestigate the efficacy and safety of treatment 

with Rabeximod. The primary endpoint of the 

clinical study is proportion of subjects alive 

and free of respiratory failure.

• Cyxone has acquired exclusive rights to the 

patent applications covering the use of Ra-

beximod in this indication from the US based 

researcher and entrepreneur, Dr Kalev Kask.

• A successful outcome of the Phase 2 study 

would open a range of opportunities for 

Rabeximod in Covid-19 and other virally in-

duced acute respiratory disorders. The great 

medical need improves Cyxone’s chances of 

attracting a powerful partner to take on the 

future development and potential commerci-

alization of Rabeximod in this indication.

Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

COVID-19
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Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

T20K for Multiple Sclerosis 
Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a debilitating, chronic autoimmune disease that affects the central nervous sys-

tem. The disease emerges when certain immune cells cross the blood brain barrier and mistakenly start 

destroying myelin, the protective layer on CNS nerves. Unsheathed nerves compromise signal transmission, 

giving rise to symptoms such as vision loss, balance disorders and eventually paralysis.

Many of the available drugs are primarily intended for treatment during 

active periods of the disease. Current therapies may lead to tolerability 

and safety problems and sometimes require monitoring and tests which 

affects quality of life and health care costs negatively. Furthermore, most 

treatments need to be administered as infusions or injections, which can be 

inconvenient for the patients. Thus, there is a large need for new drugs that 

impact disease progression before tissue is damaged or destroyed, have 

fewer side effects and are easy to use.

Preclinical Data Suggesting Long-Lasting Effects
Cyxone is developing T20K, a peptide that in preclinical models reduces 

inflammation by reversibly targeting IL-2, a well-known player in the bre-

ak-down of myelin. In the mouse model of multiple sclerosis (EAE model), 

T20K significantly delays onset as well as severity of clinical symptom. This 

potentially disease preventing mechanism-of-action is unique and T20K 

could thus be effective in slowing down the disease progression, preventing 

disease flares and postponing the need of second-line treatments. Initial 

preclinical data suggest that T20K has long-lasting effects and is efficacious 

at low doses and thus administration does not have to be frequent.

Taken together, T20K could be efficacious for administration from time of 

diagnosis for mitigating or even preventing relapses that are hall marks of 

multiple sclerosis and is when tissue damage occurs.

Project status and next steps

• T20K has shown to be well tolerated in 

humans in a Phase 1a study when administra-

ting T20K as an infusion. For further clinical 

development we are aiming for a more 

patient-friendly administration form

• Preclinical studies to support a convenient 

administration of T20K are ongoing, and 

mandatory toxicological studies required to 

obtain regulatory approval for a clinical study 

in healthy individuals will follow

• Cyxone intends to partner or out-license the 

project to a pharmaceutical company

• T20K is covered by patents on all major geo-

graphical markets until 2032, with possibili-

ties to further prolong the market exclusivity

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS
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Patents and Intellectual Property
The development work at Cyxone and the research performed by collaborating scientists 

continues to generate new patent opportunities for the company, and we regularly assess 

those opportunities.

In order to increase the commercial potential for Rabeximod and its attractiveness to potential partners, 

Cyxone is taking measures to expand its market exclusivity period. A number of additional patent applica-

tions have recently been filed, and the company will continue exploring more options to further expand its 

IP platform.

Rabeximod Patents

Patent name Geographies Expiration date

Alkyl substituted indoloquinoxalines USA, UK, France, Spain, Germany, Sweden, India, 
China, Mexico, Japan 

2028 USA 
2025 EU and other 
regions

Patent 2-5 (applied for) TBD 2041/ w PE 2043

T20K Patents

Patent name Geographies Expiration date

Cyclotides as immunosuppressive agents* USA, Europe, Canada, Australia 2032 with +5yr PE

* Patent owned by Medical University of Vienna

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020
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Employees
Cyxone’s employees are the company’s single greatest asset. Their knowledge, compe-

tence and daily work are what drives the company to the set goals.

Cyxone is a lean organisation where every employee has a well-defined role in the company. All employees 

are experts in their area and have a good knowledge of all of Cyxone’s operations. The company’s aims and 

goals are known to all employees and serve as a guidance in their work.

Knowledgeable and Proficient
The organisation of Cyxone is slim and consists of six employees. All but one have academic background 

and three three hold PhDs.

Cyxone’s personnel policy encourages employees to further their education and to stay up to date within 

their areas of responsibility. For the Research and Development Department, this means, for example, parti-

cipating in scientific conferences. All personnel, including consultants who have an employment-like role in 

the company, undergo the training required to meet the regulatory requirements in the industry.

Recruiting New Employees
The company has made several recruitments during 2020 as part of the company’s strategy to strengthen 

the organisation and to secure key competences. More recruitments are to be expected in the coming years.

An open climate
The work climate at Cyxone can be described as open and honest. The employees are encouraged to to 

suggest changes and improvements in the company’s work. Everyone’s opinions are important to make 

the company successful. Internal communication is a high priority within Cyxone. Despite the current times 

with the Covid pandemic, the company strives to increase the community and cohesion and implements 

online meetings and events on a recurrent basis.

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020
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The Share
The company was established on July 13, 2015. Shares in the company have been traded 

since June 7, 2016 on the Nasdaq First North Growth Market stock exchange with the 

ticker CYXO. The company’s Certified Adviser on the Nasdaq First North Growth Market is 

Mangold Fondkommission AB, telephone +46 (0)8-503 015 50 and email ca@mangold.se.

Share Capital
The company’s share capital is quoted in SEK and distributed among the shares issued by the company 

with a quotient value that is also expressed in SEK. On December 31, 2020, the share capital of Cyxone 

amounted to SEK 4,382,145.83 distributed among 58,063,400 shares. The share’s quotient value is approx-

imately SEK 0,075.

Share Value Development
On the final day of trading in December 2020, the share price was SEK 4.24, while on the same date in 2019, 

it was SEK 4.19. The highest price paid for the share during the year was SEK 8.00 (August 14, 2020). 

Dividend Policy 
In view of Cyxone’s financial position and negative earnings, the Board of Directors do not intend to propose 

that any dividends be paid for the next few years. The company’s financial assets will mainly be used to 

finance existing and new research programs.

Proposed Allocation of profits
The Board and the CEO of Cyxone AB propose that no dividend be distributed.

Changes in Share Capital 

Year Event
Increase in share 

capital (SEK)
Total share 

capital (SEK)
Change in num-

ber of shares
Total number 

of shares
Quota 

value (SEK)

2015 Formation of company 50,000 50,000 500 500 100

2015 Share issue for patent work 450,000 500,000 4,500 5,000 100

2015 Split (1:1 000) - 500,000 4,995,000 5,000,000 0.1

2016 Split (1000:1 325) - 500,000 1,625,000 6,625,000 0.075

2016 Share issue 98,113 598,113 1,300,000 7,925,000 0.075

2016 Share issue (First North Listing) 377,358 975,472 5,000,000 12,925,000 0.075

2017 Issue TO1 181,584 1,157,056 2,405,992 15,330,992 0.075

2017 Issue TO2 186,198 1,343,254 2,467,119 17,798,111 0.075

2018 Cash issue 144,632 1,487,886 1,916,372 19,714,483 0.075

2018 Share issue and issue of TO3 1,339,098 2,826,984 17,743,034 37,457,517 0.075

2019 Share issue 877,198 3,704,182 11,622,863 49,080,380 0.075

2020 Share issue 15,266 3,719,448 202,274 49,282,654 0.075

2020 Share issue 16,215 3,735,663 214,858 49,497,512 0.075

2020 Share issue 338,935 4,074,598 4,490,888 53,988,400 0.075

2020 Share issue 307,547 4,382,146 4,075,000 58,063,400 0.075

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020
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Largest Owners per Dec 31, 2020

Owner Share of votes and capital (%)

Accequa AB 10.27

Avanza Pension 5.82

Ivar Nordqvist 3.70

Oxy Pharma AB 3.30

Nordnet Pensionsförsäkring AB 2.83

BNY Mellon NA 1.92

JP Morgan Chase Bank NA 1.89

Christian Pettersson 1.32

Mango Biotechnology 1.20

C & Son Invest AB 1.10

Other 66.65

Total 100.00

The Share
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Management
Cyxone’s executive management team consists of experienced experts with solid know-

ledge in the fields of drug development, business development and financing in innovative 

biotech companies.

Experiences

Tara Heitner has more than 20 years’ experience from R&D, management and board positions in 

the biotech and pharma industry. Her previous roles include CEO, Business Development Director 

and Scientist. In 2014 Tara founded her own consultancy company, Heitner Biopharm Consultation, 

focusing on strategic, financing and business development advice for small biotech companies 

and start-ups. Tara is the co-founder of a number of start-ups spun out from universities such as 

Lund University, Sweden and Aarhus University, Denmark. Tara has successfully closed several 

partnership deals and been successful in fundraising. She holds a Ph.D. in chemistry from McGill 

University in Canada and an MBA from Technical University of Denmark (DTU).

Other assignments:

• Board Member in Nordic Pharmaceutical Licensing Group

• Board Member in Bainan Biotech

• Part-time CEO in ISD Immunotech

Shares in the company (as per 3 December 2020)

Tara Heitner owns 33,660 shares in Cyxone.

Experiences

Ola Skanung holds a B.Sc. in Business Administration and Entrepreneurship and additional exams 

within Financial Law and Change Management. He has many years of experience as CFO and from 

working with start-ups and growth projects within the private sector, as well as with state and regio-

nal development actors.

Other assignments:

• CEO and Board Member in Ledningsresurs Syd AB

• CFO in Aptahem AB

• Board Member in XO Sweden Wines & Spirits AB

• Liquidator in Ideonfonden AB

Shares in the company (as per 3 December 2020)

Ola Skanung owns 28,700 shares in Cyxone.

Experiences

Malin Berthold holds a Ph.D. in neurochemistry from Stockholm University, Sweden, and has more 

than 20 years’ experience from the pharmaceutical and medtech industries in different leading and 

expert roles. At Biovitrum AB she successfully led early discovery projects in metabolic disease, and 

headed biology teams in preclinical development, responsible for preparation for Phase 1 clinical 

trials. Malin co-founded and worked as senior consultant in a consultancy firm that supports small 

and medium-sized life science businesses with project management and scientific evaluations. As 

a senior scientific advisor in Global Marketing at ThermoFisher Scientific she was responsible for 

scientific and medical evidence, clinical study strategy and key opinion leader relations in allergy 

and asthma.

Shares in the company (as per 3 December 2020)

Malin Berthold owns 13,500 shares in Cyxone

Tara Heitner
CEO

Ola Skanung
CFO

Malin Berthold
COO

Born 1969. CEO since 2020.

Born 1964. CFO since 2015.

Born 1963. COO since 2020.
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Experiences

Dr Junno has previous management and board level experience from several European and US 

based companies in fields of electronics, biotech and IT. He has also co-founded several life science 

companies, for example WntResearch AB (publ), Galecto Biotech AB, Gabather AB (publ), Aptahem 

AB (publ) and Cyxone AB (publ). Dr Junno holds a Ph.D. in Semiconductor Physics and Technology 

and a M.Sc. in Physics from Lund University.

Other assignments:

• Owner and active in Accequa AB

• Chairman of the Board in CombiGene AB (publ)

• Chairman of the Board in Aptahem AB (publ)

• Board Member in Accequa AB

• Board Member in Accequa GmbH

Previous assignments

• Board Member in Gabather AB (publ)

• Board Member in Gabather Finans AB

• CEO in Gabather AB (publ)

• Member of the Advisory Board of the Swedish Intellectual Property Office

Shares in the company (as per 8 March 2021)

Bert Junno owns 400,000 shares in Cyxone. Junno further owns 33% of Accequa, which owns 

5,962,500 shares in Cyxone.

Experiences

Theresa Comiskey Olsen, Attorney at Law (USA), is a Partner at Nova Law Firm in Oslo, Norway. 

Before joining Nova, Comiskey Olsen was a partner at Langseth Law Firm since January 2016 after 

starting her own practice with focus on legal transactions in the Life Sciences/Biotech field. Prior to 

starting her practice in 2008, she was General Counsel of Nycomed, which has since been acquired 

by Takeda. Comiskey Olsen continues to grow her practice at Nova with focus on legal transactions 

in the Life Sciences/Biotech field. She has her B.A. from University of Pennsylvania and her J.D. from 

University of Detroit Mercy School of Law.

Other assignments:

• Board Member in FF Bygg og Vedlikehold AS

• Board Member in Jotunfjell AS

• Board Member in Aptahem AB (publ)

• Chairman of the Board in Farma Investment AS

• Owner and partner in Advokatfirmaet Nova DA

Previous assignments

• Board Member in PCI Biotech Holding ASA

• Board Member in Calpro AS

• Board Member in Nordic Nanovector ASA

• Board Member in Serodus ASA

• Board Member in Biovotec AS

• Owner and partner in Langseth Advokatfirma DA

• Chairman of the Board in MyLifeProducts AS

Shares in the company (as per 14 April 2020)

Theresa Comiskey Olsen owns 100,000 shares in Cyxone

Bert Junno
Chairman of the Board

Theresa Comiskey 
Olsen
Board Member

Born 1966. Chairman of the 

Board since 2015.

Born 1963. Board Member 

since 2016.

Board of Directors
Members of the Cyxone board have extensive experience of taking projects from aca-

demic research stage to publicly traded development companies, fundraising as well as 

negotiating license and cooperation agreements.

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020

Management16



Experiences

Saad Gilani is a Managing Director at Yorkville Advisors Global and has been with the firm since 

2005. As Head of the Healthcare Group, he has led financing transactions in a variety of life science 

companies focused on biotechnology, molecular diagnostics and medical devices in the US and in 

Europe. Gilani is a member of the firm’s Investment Committee. He also sits on the supervisory board 

of Temple Therapeutics BV based in The Netherlands.

Prior to joining Yorkville Advisors Global, Gilani worked at Keyence Corporation for 11 years where 

he held various management roles within the Engineering and Marketing groups. He earned a BSc 

in Electrical Engineering from Rutgers College of Engineering and received his MBA from Rutgers 

University in NJ, where he specialized in finance.

Other assignments:

• Board Member in Temple Therapeutics BV

Shares in the company (as per 14 April 2020)

Saad Gilani owns 132,500 shares in Cyxone

Experiences

Mikael Lindstam has been engaged in several start-up companies and development programs that 

have generated investments of more than 250 MSEK. Dr. Lindstam has been part of the develop-

ment of Galecto Biotech AB, Gabather AB and Aptahem AB from Forskarpatent’s portfolio including 

a number of license deals and IP-divestments. Dr. Lindstam is a co-founder of Accequa AB and is 

currently board member and CEO of Aptahem AB and holds a Ph.D. in inorganic chemistry and with 

long experience from marketing, entrepreneurship and management.

Other assignments:

• Owner and active in Accequa AB

• Chairman of the Board in Accequa AB

• Board Member in Aptahem Finans AB

• Board Member in Accequa GmbH

Previous assignments

• Board Member in Ceratmo AB

Shares in the company (as per 18 September 2020)

Mikael Lindstam owns 62,500 shares in Cyxone. Lindstam further owns 33% of Accequa, which owns 

5,962,500 shares in Cyxone.

Saad Gilani
Board Member

Mikael Lindstam
Board Member

Born 1971. Board Member 

since 2015.

Born 1966. Board Member 

since 2015.
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Director’s Report

Information about the Business
Cyxone is a Swedish biotech company that develops disease modifying therapies for di-

seases such as rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis as well as treatments for virally 

induced acute respiratory disorders in convenient administration forms.

The development portfolio comprises Rabeximod, which is a clinical Phase 2 compound for rheumatoid 

arthritis (RA). Separately, Cyxone has initiated a Phase 2 study to investigate the benefits of Rabeximod as 

a treatment for Covid-19 to combat virally induced acute respiratory conditions and prevent progression 

to virally induced acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) – the life threating condition which leads to 

death in these patients. The company is also developing T20K as a new treatment for multiple sclerosis 

(MS), based on encouraging preclinical results and a successful but limited phase 1 infusion study. More 

preclinical work is needed since infusion is not Cyxone’s intended administration mode.

Rabeximod for Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)
Cyxone is developing Rabeximod, a well-tolerated, orally available Phase 2 candidate drug with a unique 

mechanism of action. Rabeximod targets a subset of immune cells including inflammatory macrophages, 

a type of white blood cell which is the central orchestrator of the inflammatory process that causes tissue 

destruction in the joint and clinical symptoms in RA. Combined with the convenience of oral administration 

and a beneficial tolerability profile, this opens up for treatment in the early as well as later stages of the 

disease. It is believed to be particularly effective at onset and relapses of RA, with good potential to prevent 

joint destruction and progression of the disease.

Rabeximod for Covid-19
In the case of acute respiratory disorders, the overreaction of the immune system can progress rapidly 

to an acute stage – acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) - caused by a so-called cytokine storm. 

Rabeximod inhibits the release of multiple inflammatory cytokines. Inhibition of multiple cytokines rather 

than single cytokines is expected to yield better efficacy in Covid-19. Thus, Rabeximod has the potential 

to reverse the course of the disease in mild to moderate cases of Covid-19 by preventing a cytokine storm 

from occurring.

T20K for Multiple Sclerosis (MS)
T20K is a peptide that in preclinical models reduces inflammation by reversibly modulating IL-2, a well-

known player in the break-down of myelin. This potentially disease preventing mechanism-of-action is uni-

que and T20K could thus be effective in slowing down the disease progression, preventing disease flares 

and postponing the need of second-line treatments. Initial preclinical data suggest that T20K has long-las-

ting effects and is efficacious at low doses and thus administration does not have to be frequent.

Business model 
With three unique projects, all developing towards important and potentially value-creating milestones, 

Cyxone is well positioned to deliver consequential benefits for patients, the health care system as well as 

for its shareholders. Cyxone’s goal is to out-license projects to strong partners after Phase 2 clinical trials to 

maximise their potential.

Management and Board of Directors 
Cyxone’s executive management team consists of experienced experts with solid knowledge in the fields 

of drug development, business development and financing in innovative biotech companies. Members of 
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the Cyxone board have extensive experience of taking projects from academic research stage to publicly 

traded development companies, fundraising as well as negotiating licence and cooperation agreements. 

Aims 
Cyxone develops disease modifying therapies for rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis as well as 

treatments for virally induced acute respiratory disorders. With three unique programs, Cyxone is well posi-

tioned to deliver substantial benefits for patients, the health care system as well as for its shareholders.

Vision 
Cyxone’s vision is to develop first in class therapeutics that markedly improve the quality of life for patients 

based on recent understandings of the disease mechanism. The company’s drugs are designed not only 

to be efficacious, but also more convenient for patients to take, have fewer and milder side-effects than 

existing treatments, and well-suited for long-term treatments. By providing this, we will offer patients the 

option of taking control of their disease, and thereby their lives.

Significant events during 2020

• Cyxone announced in January that the company has ordered more Rabeximod substance earlier than 

planned. 

• The Medical University of Vienna filed a new patent application in March for extended protection of 

T20K, included in Cyxone’s license agreement. 

• Dr Tara Heitner appointed new CEO.

• Cyxone filed new patent applications following additional innovation achievements.

• Cyxone entered a development agreement with inventor Dr Kalev Kask. Through the agreement, Cyxone 

acquired intellectual property rights relating to the use of Rabeximod for the treatment of Covid-19 rela-

ted symptoms. Dr Kalev Kask was given the right to request that Cyxone conducts a directed share issue 

to him or to an investor designated by him. 

• Cyxone signed agreement with Dr Maarten Kraan as Senior Scientific Advisor.

• Cyxone signed agreement with Professor Rikard Holmdahl as Senior Scientific Advisor.

• Cyxone planned to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial with Rabeximod in Covid-19 patients.

• Cyxone revised the development plan for Rabeximod.

• Fully exercised option agreement with Dr. Kalev Kask brought in a total of SEK 21.8 million before trans-

action costs. 

• Cyxone announced positive results from regulatory toxicology studies of Rabeximod. 

• Cyxone filed patent application to extend exclusivity of Rabeximod. 

• A directed issue of units of approximately SEK 19 million and an issue of warrants to current shareholders 

were carried out. The directed issue was carried out through an accelerated book-building procedure. 

• Cyxone received regulatory approval to initiate a clinical Phase 2 study with Rabeximod in Covid-19 

patients. 

• Cyxone decided to apply for a listing of its shares on Nasdaq Stockholm Main Market. 

• Because of the potential change of listing, Cyxone as of Q4 2020, adjusted the accounting principles 

and will report group according to IFRS. 

• Cyxone has filed an IND in the US with Rabeximod following positive feed-back from pre-IND meeting 

with the FDA.

Significant events after the end of the period

• Cyxone reported first Covid-19 patient screened in Phase 2 clinical trial of Rabeximod.
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Financial Information 
The Group 
Comments on the Group’s results for the period January - December, 2020

Operating income amounted to 0 MSEK (0). The operating cost amounted to 49.0 MSEK (17.2). This signi-

ficant growth of operating costs is due to a higher activity level. Note that the period for comparison is 30 

July 2019 to 31 December 2019. The main reasons for the higher costs are the new project Rabeximod for 

Covid and the decision in Q1 to order an additional batch of Rabeximod substance. In Q4 2020 a refund of 

costs from the postponed RA trial affected the cost positively with 1.3 MSEK. The overall loss for the group 

was -49.0 (-17.2) MSEK. Note that the period for comparison is 30 July 2019 to end 31 December 2019.

The Group’s cash flow, liquidity and financial position for the period the period January – December, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period amounted to 56.3 MSEK, compared to 61.8 MSEK at the 

end of 2019. Total Equity amounts to 67.1 MSEK (71.7). Cash flow for the period was -5.4 MSEK (41.3), of which 

cash flow from operating activities amounted to a -44.9 MSEK (-18.0). Cash flow from investments amounted 

to 0.2 MSEK (0.0). Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 39.7 MSEK (59.3). The capital derived from 

two directed offers that were finalised during the second half of 2020. Note that the period for comparison 

is 30 July 2019 to end 31 December 2019.

Investments 
Investments in tangible fixed assets amounted to 0.0 MSEK (0.0).

Parent Company 
Comments on the Parent Company’s results and financial position for the period January – December, 2020

Operating income amounted to 0 MSEK (0) and operating cost to 49.0 MSEK (35.2). The Parent Company’s 

operating loss for the period was -49.0 MSEK (-35.2). 

Net financial cost amounted to 0 MSEK (loss: 0) and the loss after financial items was -49.0 MSEK (-35.2). 

Cash and cash equivalents totalled 55.4 MSEK at the end of the period, compared to 61.8 MSEK on 1 Janua-

ry 2019. The Parent Company received 39.7 MSEK after transaction costs through two directed share issues 

that were completed during the second half of 2020. 

Shareholders’ equity and share capital
Consolidated shareholders’ equity at the end of the period amounted to 67.1 MSEK, compared to 71.7 MSEK 

at year-end 2019. The number of outstanding shares at the end of the period totalled 58,063,400 and the 

share capital SEK 4,382,145.83. At the end of the period, the equity/assets ratio for the Group was 93.0 per-

cent, compared to 95.5 percent at year-end 2019. 

The share 
The company was established on 13 July 2015. Shares in the company have been traded since 7 June 2016 on 

the Nasdaq First North Growth Market stock exchange with the ticker CYXO. The company’s Certified Adviser 

on the Nasdaq First North Growth Market is Mangold Fondkommission AB, telephone +46 (0)8-503 015 50 

and email ca@mangold.se.
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Changes in Share Capital

Year Event
Increase in share 

capital (SEK)
Total share 

capital (SEK)
Change in num-

ber of shares
Total number 

of shares
Quota 

value (SEK)

2015 Formation of company 50,000 50,000 500 500 100

2015 Share issue for patent work 450,000 500,000 4,500 5,000 100

2015 Split (1:1 000) - 500,000 4,995,000 5,000,000 0.1

2016 Split (1000:1 325) - 500,000 1,625,000 6,625,000 0.075

2016 Share issue 98,113 598,113 1,300,000 7,925,000 0.075

2016 Share issue (First North Listing) 377,358 975,472 5,000,000 12,925,000 0.075

2017 Issue TO1 181,584 1,157,056 2,405,992 15,330,992 0.075

2017 Issue TO2 186,198 1,343,254 2,467,119 17,798,111 0.075

2018 Cash issue 144,632 1,487,886 1,916,372 19,714,483 0.075

2018 Share issue and issue of TO3 1,339,098 2,826,984 17,743,034 37,457,517 0.075

2019 Share issue 877,198 3,704,182 11,622,863 49,080,380 0.075

2020 Share issue 15,266 3,719,448 202,274 49,282,654 0.075

2020 Share issue 16,215 3,735,663 214,858 49,497,512 0.075

2020 Share issue 338,935 4,074,598 4,490,888 53,988,400 0.075

2020 Share issue 307,547 4,382,146 4,075,000 58,063,400 0.075

Organization 
The average number of employees during the reporting period was 5 (3), of which the number of employ-

ees in the research and development organisation accounted for 3 (1). At the end of the period, the Group 

had 6 employees. 

Outlook, including significant risks and uncertainties
Available liquidity and the capital infusion generated by the directed issues, in combination with income 

from the existing outstanding warrants are, according to current plans, assumed to be sufficient to finance 

operations during the 12-month period from the publishing of the report, into 2022. Valuation of patents 

is based on assumptions made about financing and continued operation as a going concern. Unforeseen 

costs may affect this assessment.

In the case that less funding would be obtained from the warrants, new funding has to be sought or the 

development plan and timing might need to be adjusted. The possibility of raising external capital may also 

be affected by powers outside of the company’s control, such as fluctuations in the economy or market 

which may cause it to be more expensive or more difficult to raise new capital. Negative study results or 

considerable delays may affect the company’s possibilities to new financing.

Cyxone’s ability to develop pharmaceutical projects to the point at which partnership agreements can be 

secured, and the partner assumes responsibility for the future development and commercialization of the 

project, is decisive for the company’s long-term financial strength and stability. No partnerships have so 

far been secured. Negative study results can have a negative impact on the company’s ability to attract 

potential partners. Furthermore, fluctuations in the market or changes in market regulations can affect the 

company’s attractiveness on the market. Cyxone is currently developing three projects in parallel, within 

three different indications, in an attempt to mitigate this risk and diversify the product portfolio. 

A research company such as Cyxone is characterized by high operational and financial risk, since the 

projects in which the company is involved have both development, regulatory and commercialization risks. 

In addition, the ability of the company to attract and retain key people with both insights to the field of rese-

arch, and relevant product development experiences is a significant risk. The company is actively working 

on improving its possibilities to both attract and to keep such key personnel. Cyxone has made several 
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recruitments during 2020 to secure that key resources and competencies are available within the compa-

ny, thereby decreasing the company’s dependency on external consultants.

Cyxone is active on an international market which means that the company is affected by exchange rate 

changes of several different currencies. Cyxone is often reliant on international subcontractors to carry out 

and execute studies or to produce new materials, as a result of this, fluctuations in exchange rates may have a 

significant impact on the prices of both goods and services. Cyxone was mainly affected by the exchange ra-

tes of the Euro in 2020. More information is available under note 17, Financial Risks and Financial Instruments.

Cyxone is active in the field of research and development which entails a risk that results may deviate from 

expectations, which may have a negative impact on the company in the form of increased costs, delays and 

reduced opportunities and conditions raising capital or licencing deals. The drug development industry is 

a highly regulated market with strict regulatory requirements. Cyxone is in several different stages of the 

development process dependant on obtaining regulatory approval from relevant authorities. The company 

works within the framework of the regulatory requirements regarding clinical trials and must comply with 

these rules, but changes in regulatory requirements and processes can affect the company’s opportunities 

to obtain regulatory approval or lead to increased costs and delays in the development process. In brief, 

the operation is associated with risks related to such factors as pharmaceutical development, competition, 

advances in technology, patents, regulatory requirements, capital requirements. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has a worldwide effect, and it is currently very hard to predict what consequences 

it will keep having, both short term and long term, for the market or for Cyxone. The Board of Directors and 

the Management are continuously monitoring the situation closely. If any of the company’s activities are 

deemed to be significantly affected of the Covid-19 pandemic, the company will inform the market. Cyxone 

is currently conducting a phase 2 clinical trial in Covid-19 patients with the drug candidate Rabeximod. The 

company has applied for regulatory approval in several different countries in order to minimize and mitigate 

the risk of individual countries’ impact of the pandemic causing a significant risk to the study.

The Group’s operations are primarily conducted in the Parent Company, which is why risks and uncertain-

ties refer to both the Group and the Parent Company. 

Principles for the preparation of this annual report
The Group was formed on 30 July 2019 when Cyxone AB formed the subsidiary Cyxone Switzerland AG. 

This is the Group’s first yearly report according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 

adopted by the EU. See Note 1 Accounting principles.

Proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss
The following amounts are to be considered at the Annual General Meeting

Share premium reserve  168,410 

Retained earnings -56,618 

Profit/loss for the year -48,954 

Total to be distributed  62,838 

The Board proposes the following distribution

Carried forward  62,838 

Total  62,838 

Regarding the Company’s earnings and position in general, reference is made to the following income 

statements and balance sheets with associated notes to the accounts.

Proposed allocation of profits
The Board of Cyxone AB propose that no dividend be distributed.
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Statement of Profit or Loss for the Group

KSEK Note
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Operating income    

Other income 2 – –

Total operating income – –

Operating costs

Other external costs 5, 18 -41,018 -13,232

Personnel expenses 4, 14 -6,067 -3,025

Amortisation of Patents, licences, and similar rights 8 -1,796 -898

Other operating expenses 3 -119 -74

Total operating costs -49,000 -17,229

Operating profit/loss -49,000 -17,229

Financial income – –

Financial costs – –

Net financial items – –

Profit/loss before tax -49,000 -17,229

Tax 6 – –

Profit/loss for the year -49,000 -17,229

Profit/loss for the year attributable to:

Parent Company shareholders – –

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR -49,000 -17,229

Earnings per share 
before and after dilution (SEK)

7 -0.96 -0.39
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Statement of Profit or Loss and other 
Comprehensive Income for the Group

KSEK Note
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Profit/loss for the year -49,000 -17,229

Other comprehensive income  , ,

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss for the year

Exchange differences on foreign operations for the year -39 1

-39 1

Other total comprehensive income for the year -39 1

Total comprehensive income for the year  -49,039 -17,228

Profit/loss for the year attributable to:

Parent Company shareholders

Total comprehensive income for the year  -49,039 -17,228
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Statement of Financial Position for the Group

Assets

KSEK Note 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Assets

Patents, licences, and similar rights 8 14,855 11,741

Long-term receivables 10 19 –

Total non-current assets 14,874 11,741

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 11 392 245

Other current receivables 10 543 1,343

Cash and cash equivalents 12 56,343 61,756

Total current assets 57,278 63,344

TOTAL ASSETS 72,152 75,085

Equity and Liabilities

KSEK Note 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Equity 13

Share capital 4,382 3,704

Other paid in capital 168,410 124,651

Reserves -38 1

Retained earnings including profit/loss for the period -105,649 -56,649

Equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders 67,105 71,707

Total equity 67,105 71,707

Liabilities

Trade payables 2,577 1,694

Other current liabilities 15 458 550

Accrued expenses and deferred income 16 2,012 1,134

Total current liabilities 5,047 3,378

Total liabilities 5,047 3,378

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 72,152 75,085
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Group

Equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders

KSEK
Share 

capital

Other 
paid-in 
capital

Revalu-
ation 

reserve

Balanced 
profit incl. 
the result 

of the 
year

Non-con-
trolling 
interest

Total 
capital

Parent company’s equity immediately before 
the Group’s formation 2019-07-30 (after con-
version to RFR 2)

2,827 66,271 – -39,420 – 29,678

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit/loss for the year – – – -17,229 – -17,229

Other total comprehensive income for the year – – 1 – – 1

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 1 -17,229 – -17,228

Transactions with the Group’s owners

New issue of shares 877 58,380 – – – 59,257

Total transactions with the Group’s owners 877 58,380 – – – 59,257

Closing balance equity 31/12/2019 3,704 124,651 1 -56,649 – 71,707

Opening balance equity 01/01/2020 3,704 124,651 1 -56,649 – 71,707

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit/loss for the year – – – -49,000 – -49,000

Other total comprehensive income for the year – – -39 – – -39

Total comprehensive income for the year – – -39 -49,000 – -49,039

Transactions with the Group’s owners

Contribution from, and value transferred to, 
owners

Rights issue 678 39,008 – – – 39,686

Share-based payments that are settled with 
equity instruments, IFRS 2

– 4,751 – – – 4,751

Total contribution from, and value transferred 
to, owners

678 43,759 – – – 44,437

Total transactions with the Group’s owners 678 43,759 – – – 44,437

Closing balance equity 31/12/2020 4,382 168,410 -38 -105,649 – 67,105

The amounts for share issues are reported net after deductions for transaction costs of 1,308 (3,152) KSEK.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash for the Group

KSEK Note
1 jan - 31 dec

2020
30 jul - 31 dec

2019

Operating activities 24

Profit/loss before tax -49,000 -17,229

Adjustment for non-cash items, etc

Amortisation of patents, licences, and similar rights 1,796 898

-47,204 -16,331

Increase (-) / Decrease (+) of current receivables 654 -306

Increase (-) / Decrease (+) of current liabilities 1,670 -1,321

Cash flow from operating activities -44,880 -17,958

Investing activities

Acquisition of patents, licences, and similar rights -159 -9

Acquisition of financial assets -19 –

Cash flow from investing activities -178 -9

Financing activities

Rights issue 40,994 62,409

Share issue costs -1,308 -3,152

Cash flow from financing activities 39,686 59,257

Total cash flow for the year -5,372 41,290

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 61,756 20,469

Exchange rate difference in cash and cash equivalents -41 -3

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 56,343 61,756
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Income Statement for the Parent Company

KSEK Note 2020 2019

Operating income    

Other income 2 – 26

Total operating income – 26

Operating costs

Other external costs 5, 18 -40,972 -28,010

Personnel expenses 4, 14 -6,067 -5,252

Amortisation of intangible assets 8 -1,796 -1,794

Other operating expenses 3 -145 -136

Total operating costs -48,954 -35,192

Operating profit/loss -48,954 -35,166

Profit/loss from financial items

Interest income and similar profit/loss items – –

Interest expense and similar profit/loss items – –

Profit/loss before tax -48,954 -35,166

Tax 6 – –

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR -48,954 -35,166

Earnings per share 
before and after dilution (SEK)

7 -0.96 -0.86

Statement of Profit or Loss and other 
Comprehensive Income for the Parent Company

KSEK Note 2020 2019

Profit/loss for the year -48,954 -35,166

Total comprehensive income for the year  -48,954 -35,166
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Balance Sheet for the Parent Company

Assets

KSEK Note 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Assets

Non-current assets

Patents, licences, and similar rights 8 14,855 11,741

Financial assets:

Participation in group companies 22 955 955

Long-term receivables 10 19 –

Total financial assets 974 955

Total non-current assets 15,829 12,696

Current assets

Current receivables:

Receivables from group companies 9 83 33

Other current receivables 10 537 385

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 11 392 245

Total current receivables 1,012 663

Cash and bank 12 55,418 61,756

Total current assets 56,430 62,419

TOTAL ASSETS 72,259 75,115

Equity and Liabilities

KSEK Note 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Equity 13

Restricted equity

Share capital 4,382 3,704

Non-restricted equity

Share premium reserve 168,410 124,651

Retained earnings -56,618 -21,452

Profit/loss for the year -48,954 -35,166

Total equity 67,220 71,737

Current liabilities 17

Trade payables 2,568 1,694

Other current liabilities 15 459 550

Accrued expenses and deferred income 16 2,012 1,134

Total current liabilities 5,039 3,378

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 72,259 75,115
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Parent 
Company

Restricted 
equity

Non-restricted equity

KSEK
Share  

capital
Share premi-
um reserve

Retained 
earnings

Profit/loss 
for the year Total equity

Opening balance equity 01/01/2019 2,827 96,141 -19,539 -31,783 47,646

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit/loss for the year – – – -35,166 -35,166

Other total comprehensive income for the year – – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – -35,166 -35,166

Allocation of profits – – -31,783 31,783 –

New issue of shares 877 58,380 – – 59,257

Closing balance equity 2019-12-31 3,704 154,521 -51,323 -35,166 71,737

Opening balance equity 2020-01-01 3,704 154,521 -51,323 -35,166 71,737

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit/loss for the year – – – -48,954 -48,954

Other total comprehensive income for the year – – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – -48,954 -48,954

Allocation of profits – – -35,166 35,166 –

New issue of shares 678 39,008 – – 39,686

Share-based payments that are settled with 
equity instruments

– 4,751 – – 4,751

Closing balance equity 31/12/2020 4,382 198,280 -86,489 -48,954 67,220

The amounts for share issues are reported net after deductions for transaction costs of 1,308 KSEK (3,152 KSEK).
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Cash Flow Analysis for the Parent Company

KSEK Note 2020 2019

Operating activities 24

Profit/loss before tax -48,954 -35,166

Adjustment for non-cash items, etc.

Amortisation of patents, licences, and similar rights 1,796 1,794

-47,158 -33,372

Increase (-) / Decrease (+) of current receivables -349 -111

Increase (-) / Decrease (+) of current liabilities 1,661 -1,743

Cash flow from operating activities -45,846 -35,225

Investing activities

Acquisition of patents, licences, and similar rights -159 -36

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net cash flow impact – -955

Acquisition of financial assets -19 –

Cash flow from investing activities -178 -991

Financing activities

Rights issue 40,994 62,415

Share issue costs -1,308 -3,158

Cash flow from financing activities 39,686 59,257

Total cash flow for the year -6,338 23,040

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 61,756 38,716

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 55,418 61,756

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020

Cash Flow Analysis for the Parent Company 31



Notes

Note 1 – Significant accounting principles

(a) Compliance with standards and legislation
The consolidated accounts have been drawn up in accordance with those International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) which have been adopted 

by EU. In addition, the Swedish Financial Reporting Board recommendation RFR 1 Supplementary accoun-

ting rules for groups has also been applied.

The parent company applies the same accounting principles as the Group except in the cases stated in the 

section below on Parent company accounting principles.

The Annual Report and the consolidated accounts have been approved of by the Board and CEO for 

publication on 7 April 2020. The consolidated income statement and balance sheet and parent company 

income statement and balance sheet will be presented for adoption by the AGM on 3 June 2021.

This annual report is the first to be submitted for the Group. The Group was formed in connection with Cyx-

one AB in July 2019 forming the Swiss subsidiary Cyxone Switzerland AG. No consolidated accounts were 

prepared for 2019 with reference to the exception in Chapter 7, Section 3 of the Swedish Annual Accounts 

Act (1995:1554). Thus, there are no effects to report for the Group in connection with a transition to IFRS, as 

the Group has been applying IFRS ever since its formation in July 2019. For a description of the effects of 

the transition to RFR 2 Accounting rules for legal entities for the Parent Company, see Note 28.

(b) Valuation basis applied in the preparation of the financial statements 
Assets and liabilities are recognised at historical acquisition values except for certain financial assets and 

liabilities measured at amortised cost.

(c) Functional currency and reporting currency
The parent company’s functional currency is the Swedish kronor, which is also the currency in which the 

accounts of the Parent Company and the Group are reported. This means that the financial statements 

are presented in Swedish kronor. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are rounded off to the nearest 

thousand.

(d) Assessments and estimates in the financial reports
Preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make accounting es-

timates and judgements as well as assumptions that influence the application of the accounting principles 

and the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual outcomes may differ from 

these estimates and judgements.

(e) Significant accounting principles applied
Other than the exceptions explained in detail, the accounting principles set out below have been applied 

consistently to all periods presented in the Group’s financial statements. The accounting principles applied 

in the consolidated accounts have also been applied consistently by the individual companies within the 

Group.

(g) New IFRS-rules that have not yet begun to be applied
New and revised IFRS with future application are not expected to have any significant effect on the compa-

ny’s financial statements.
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(h) Classification, etc.
Fixed assets consist essentially of the amounts expected to be recovered or paid after more than twelve 

months from the balance sheet date, while current assets consist essentially of amounts expected to be 

recovered or paid within twelve months from the balance sheet date. Long-term liabilities consist essenti-

ally of amounts where the Group has, at the end of the reporting period, an unconditional right to choose to 

pay later than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. If the Group has no such right at the end of 

the reporting period – or holds liabilities for trading or is expecting liabilities to be settled within the normal 

operating cycle – the liability amount is reported as current liabilities.

(i) Operating segment reporting
An operating segment is a part of the Group which conducts operations from which it can generate 

revenue and incur costs and for which there is independent financial information available. An operating 

segment’s profit/loss is further monitored by the Company’s highest executive decision maker to evaluate 

the results and to allocate resources to the operating segment.

The Group currently has only one business activity, and hence only one operating result for the chief 

executive to take regular decisions on and allocate resources to. In light of this, there is only one operating 

segment which represents the Group as a whole, so there is no other segment reporting. Within the Group, 

the CEO of Cyxone has been identified as the highest executive decision maker.

(j) Consolidation principles and operating requirements

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies that are under the controlling influence of Cyxone AB. Controlling influence 

exists if Cyxone AB has influence over the investment object, is exposed to or is entitled to a variable return 

from its commitment and may use its influence over the investment to impact return. When determining 

whether a controlling influence exists, consideration is given to potential voting rights and whether de facto 

control exists.

The Group was formed on 30 July 2019 when Cyxone AB started the wholly owned subsidiary Cyxone 

Switzerland AG.

(ii) Transactions eliminated upon consolidation

Internal Group receivables and liabilities, revenues or costs or unrealised gains or losses stemming from 

internal Group transactions are eliminated completely when preparing the consolidated accounts.

(k) Foreign currency

(i) Transactions in foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currency are converted to the functional currency at the exchange rate on the trans-

action date. The functional currency is the currency of the primary financial bases the company operates in. 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are converted to the functional currency at the exchange 

rate applying on the balance sheet day. Exchange rate differences arising during translation are recognised 

in profit/loss for the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities which are recognised at their historical acqui-

sition value are converted to the exchange rate at the time of the transaction.

(ii) Foreign company financial reports

Assets and liabilities in foreign entities including goodwill and other Group deficit and surplus values are 

converted from the foreign company’s functional currency to the Group’s reporting currency, Swedish 

krona, at the exchange rate on balance sheet day. Revenue and costs in a foreign entity are converted to 

Swedish krona at an average rate that approximates the rates on the respective transaction dates. Tran-

slation differences arising when converting the currency of foreign companies are recognised in other com-

prehensive income and are accumulated in a separate component in equity as a translation reserve.
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(l) Revenue
The Group has not yet generated revenue from the out-licensing of its drug candidates. Other income consists 

of, among other things, sick pay benefits.

(m) Leases
When a contract is concluded, the Group determines whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 

or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 

for consideration.

(i) Leasing agreements that are recognised as an expense

The Group leases office space in an office hotel. The lease for office premises normally has a term of 6 months. 

The lease contains an option to renew the lease at the end of the leasing period with additional periods with the 

same term. The Group’s reason for leasing places in an office hotel is the short leasing period, which increases 

operational flexibility. The Group considers that it is not reasonably probable that the lease for the office hotel will 

be extended beyond the first period - i.e., the leasing period is estimated to be a single period. Since the lease 

has a leasing period of less than 12 months, the agreement is classified as a short-term lease. The Group has 

chosen not to report right-of-use assets and leasing liabilities for such leases. Leasing fees for these leases are 

expensed linearly over the leasing period.

(ii) Agreement on storage capacity

The Group has agreements with suppliers for the manufacture of substances that include conditions for storage 

of the manufactured substances for a certain period. When such an agreement is concluded, Cyxone determines 

whether the agreement contains a lease. In order for an agreement to be deemed to contain a lease, the agre-

ement needs to include an identified asset. Since the agreements entered into by Cyxone are not about renting a 

specified place in the warehouse but rather about storage capacity as a service, the company has deemed that 

such agreements neither are nor contain a lease.

(o) Taxes
Income tax consists of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit/loss for the year except 

when the underlying transaction is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the rele-

vant tax is recognised in other comprehensive income respectively in equity.

Current tax is tax that will be paid or received during the current year applying the tax rates valid on or in practice 

valid on the balance sheet day. Current tax also includes adjustments of current tax attributable to earlier periods.

Deferred tax is calculated in accordance with the balance sheet method, based on temporary differences 

between carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities. 

The valuation of deferred tax is based on how underlying assets or liabilities are expected to be realised or settled.

Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates and tax rules that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets pertaining to deductible temporary differences and tax-loss carryforwards are only recogni-

sed to the extent that it is likely that they will be able to be utilised. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced 

when it is no longer deemed likely that they can be utilised.

(p) Financial instruments

(i) Initial recognition and measurement

Accounts receivable and issued debt securities are recognised when they are issued. Other financial assets and 

liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual terms of the instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is valued at fair value at the first reporting date plus any transaction costs that 

are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue.

Accounts receivable (without a significant financing component) are initially measured at the transaction price.
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(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets essentially consist of cash and cash equivalents in the form of balances with 

banks and other receivables.

All financial assets are measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities consist of accounts payable and other liabilities. All financial liabilities are 

measured at amortised cost.

(iii) Impairment 

The Group’s financial assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables are covered 

by the rules for provisions for expected credit losses in IFRS 9. However, cash and cash equivalents consist 

entirely of balances with banks with a high credit rating and which can be obtained on request. No reserve 

for expected credit losses in cash and cash equivalents is therefore reported on material grounds. All other 

receivables are current and no reserve for expected credit losses is reported on material grounds for these 

receivables either.

(iv) Opt-out from the report on financial position

Financial assets

The Group removes a financial asset from the statement of financial position when the contractual rights to 

the cash flows from the financial asset cease.

Financial liabilities

The Group discards a financial liability from the statement of financial position when the commitments 

specified in the agreement are fulfilled, cancelled, or terminated.

(s) Intangible assets

(i) Acquired intangible assets – Patents and similar immaterial rights

Intangible assets acquired by the Group consist primarily of patents. The patents refer to ongoing patent 

expenses for T20K as well as expenses for patent applications in the USA, Europe and Australia. The com-

pany was granted patents for T20K in 2016-2018.

Depreciation started January 2017. In 2018, the patent for Rabeximod was acquired.

Patents are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and possible write-downs.

Patents are depreciated over the life of the patent.

In 2020, Cyxone acquired the exclusive right to the patent applications covering the use of Rabeximod for 

the treatment of the symptoms arising from Covid-19 from Dr Kalev Kask. The acquired rights have initially 

been valued at the fair value of the option issued to Dr Kalev Kask, since the acquisition of the rights con-

stitutes a transaction that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. The value of the acquired 

rights has been based on the fair value of the option granted as Cyxone has made the assessment that the 

fair value of the acquired rights could not be estimated in a sufficiently reliable manner. Depreciation begins 

when a patent has been obtained.

(ii) Acquisition through internal development

The work of developing an internally generated intangible fixed asset is divided into a research phase and a 

development phase.

All expenses arising from the Group’s research phase are reported as an expense when they arise. Ex-

penses on development are recognised as an asset in the statement of financial position, if the product or 

process is technical and 
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a. it is technically feasible to finish the intangible asset so that it can be used or sold;

b. the company intends to finish the intangible asset and use or sell it;

c. conditions exist to use or sell the intangible asset;

d. the way in which the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits can be demon-

strated;

e. adequate technical, financial and other resources exist to complete the development and to use or sell 

the intangible asset; and

f. the expenditures which relate to the intangible asset during its development can be calculated in a 

reliable manner.

In the statement of financial position, development costs are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and impairment losses. Unless all of the above criteria are met, costs incurred in the development phase 

are recognised as an operating expense when they arise.

A strong indication that all of the above criteria have been met and the proprietary projects will be able to 

be activated is that the application for final approval is submitted to the supervisory authority. Thus, activa-

tion of internally generated intangible assets is not normally done until this time.

(iii) Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs for capitalised intangible assets are only recognised as an asset in the statement of 

financial position when they increase the future economic benefits of the specific asset to which they are 

attributable. All other costs are expensed as incurred.

(vi) Amortisation

Amortisation is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 

intangible asset. The useful lives are reviewed at least on an annual basis. Intangible assets which are not 

yet ready for use are tested for impairment annually and also as soon as indications indicate that the asset 

in question has decreased in value. Intangible assets with nondescript useful lives are depreciated from the 

time they are available for use.

Estimated useful lives:

• patents – 7-10 years  

(t) Impairment of intangible assets
If there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined 

(see below). The recoverable amount of intangible assets that are not yet finished for use are also calcula-

ted annually. If it is not possible to determine essentially independent cash flows for an individual asset, and 

its fair value less selling expenses cannot be used, for impairment testing, the assets are to be grouped at 

the lowest level at which it is possible to identify essentially independent cash flows – this is referred to as a 

cash-generating unit.

Impairment is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (group of units) 

exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment is recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In the calculation 

of the value in use, the future cash flows are discounted with a discount factor that takes into consideration 

risk-free interest and the risk associated with the specific asset.

Reversal of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there is indication that the impairment no longer exists and there has been 

a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is only reversed to 

the extent the carrying amount of the asset after reversal does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been recognised, less amortisation where applicable, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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(z) Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share before dilution is based on consolidated profit and loss attributable to 

Parent Company owners and on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Poten-

tial ordinary shares are only considered dilutive in periods when this would result in lower earnings or higher 

loss per share.

(å) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefits are calculated without discounting and recognised as an expense when the 

related services are provided.

A provision is recognised for the anticipated cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments when the Group has 

a current legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of the services provided by 

employees and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Pensions

The Group has only defined-contribution pension plans. Defined-contribution pension plans are plans 

in which the company’s obligation is limited to the contributions the company has undertaken to pay. In 

such cases, the size of the employee’s pension depends on the contributions the company pays into the 

plan or to an insurance company, and the investment earnings on the contributions. Consequently, it is 

the employee who bears the actuarial risk (that benefits will be lower than expected) and investment risk 

(that the invested assets will be insufficient to provide the expected benefits). The company’s obligations 

for contributions to defined-contribution plans are recognised as an expense in profit and loss as they are 

earned by the employees’ services to the company during a period.

(iii) Termination benefits

A termination benefit liability is recognised at the earlier of when the company can no longer withdraw the 

offer of those benefits, or when the company recognises costs for a restructuring. The benefits expected to 

be settled after 12 months are measured at their present value. Benefits not expected to be settled within 

12 months are recognised as long-term benefits.

(aa) Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is disclosed when there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and who-

se existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not 

wholly within the control of the Group, when there is an obligation that has not been recognised as a liabi-

lity or provision since it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 

or when the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The Parent Company’s accounting policies

The Parent Company has prepared its Annual Report in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts 

Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation, RFR 2 Accounting for Legal 

Entities. Statements issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board for listed companies have also been 

applied. RFR 2 specifies that the Parent Company in the annual report for the legal entity is to apply all 

IFRSs and statements adopted by the EU to the extent possible within the framework of the Swedish Annu-

al Accounts Act and Pension Obligations Vesting Act, and with regard to the relationship between accoun-

ting and taxation. The recommendation specifies the exceptions and additions to be made to IFRSs.

Differences between the accounting policies applied by the Group and the Parent Company

The differences between the accounting policies applied by the Group and the Parent Company are pre-

sented below. The accounting policies for the Parent Company stated below have been applied consistent-

ly to all periods presented in the Parent Company’s financial statements.

Classification and formats

For the Parent Company, the terms income statement, balance sheet and cash-flow statement are used for 
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the statements that the Group designates as statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial po-

sition and statement of cash flows. The Parent Company’s income statement and balance sheet are presen-

ted in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act, while the statement of changes in equity and cash 

flow statement are based on IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. 

The differences compared with the Group’s financial statements are that the main elements of the Parent 

Company’s income statement and balance sheet are financial expenses, non-current assets and equity.

Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

The Parent Company recognises investments in subsidiaries using the cost method.

Financial instruments

The Parent Company has elected not to apply IFRS 9 for financial instruments. However, some of the 

guidance in IFRS 9 is still applicable – such as impairment, recognition/derecognition, and the effective 

interest method for interest revenue and interest expense.

In the Parent Company, financial assets are measured at cost less impairment, and current assets according 

to the lowest value principle. For financial assets recognised at amortised cost, the impairment rules stated 

in IFRS 9 are applied.

Leased assets

The Parent Company does not apply IFRS 16, in accordance with the exemption in RFR 2. As a lessee, lease 

payments are recognised as an expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis, whereby a right-of-use 

asset and corresponding lease liability are not recognised on the balance sheet.

Note 2 – Other operating income

KSEK The Group Parent company

2020 2019* 2020 2019

Exchange gains from receivables/liabilities relating 
to operations

– – – 26

Sum – – – 26

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 30/07/2019-07-30 to 31/12/2019.

Note 3 – Other operating expenses

KSEK The Group Parent company

2020 2019* 2020 2019

Exchange loss from receivables/liabilities relating to 
operations

-119 -74 -145 -136

Sum -119 -74 -145 -136

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 30/07/2019-07-30 to 31/12/2019.
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Note 4 – Employees, personnel costs and remuneration to 
senior executives

Costs for remuneration to employees

The Group

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Salaries and remuneration, etc. 4,417 2,498

Pension costs, defined contribution plans (see also note 14) 299 50

Social security 1,315 463

Sum 6,031 3,011

Average number of employees

Parent Company 2020 Of which were men 2019 Of which were men

Sweden 5 0% 3 33%

Total in Parent Company 5 0% 3 33%

Group total 5 0% 3 33%

Gender distribution in company management

Group Parent company

Percentage of women 2020 2019 2020 2019

The Board of Directors 25% 25% 25% 25%

Other senior executives 67% 0% 67% 0%

Salaries and other remuneration divided among leading senior executives and other 
employees as well as social security costs in the Parent Company

Senior executives Other employees Sum

KSEK 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

(2 persons) (1 person)

Salaries and other remuneration* 1,866 2,062 794 1,844 2,661 3,906

(of which, bonuses, etc.) (339) (400) (–) (–) (339) (400)

Parent Company total 1,866 2,062 794 1,844 2,661 3,906

(of which, bonuses, etc.) (339) (400) (–) (–) (339) (400)

Social security costs 931 295 565 652 1,496 948

(of which pension costs) (278) (30) (22) (50) (299) (80)

* The CFO is also a senior executive. During part of 2019 and 2020, the CFO was also interim CEO. The work was paid as a consultancy fee.  
Invoicing amounted to KSEK 1,165 (KSEK 588).
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Salaries and other remuneration, pension costs and pension liabilities for senior executives 
in the Group

Senior executives

KSEK 2020 2019

(1 person) (1 person)

Salaries and other remuneration 1,866 1,190

(of which, bonuses, etc.) (339) (400)

Pension costs 278 –

Salaries and other remuneration for leading senior executives

Parent company

01/01/2020 – 31/12/2020
KSEK

Basic pay/
Board remu-

neration

Variable 
remunera-

tion
Other remu-

neration
Pension 

costs Total

Chairman of the Board (Bert Junno****)
Remuneration from the parent company

375 – 794 – 1,169

Board member (Saad Gilani)
Remuneration from the parent company

188 – – – 188

Board member (Mikael Lindstam)
Remuneration from the parent company

188 – – – 188

Board member (Theresa Comiskey  
Olsen***)
Remuneration from the parent company

188 – – – 188

CEO (Tara Heitner*)
Remuneration from the parent company

691 300 – 105 991

CEO (Ola Skanung**)
Remuneration from the parent company

– – – – –

Other senior executives (1 person)
Remuneration from the parent company

836 139 – 173 975

Sum 2,465 439 794 278 3,698

Remuneration from the parent company 2,465 439 794 278 3,698

* CEO, Tara Heitner, employed 01/06/2020

** During part of 2019 and 2020, the CFO was also an interim CEO. The work was paid as a consultancy fee. Invoicing amounted to KSEK 1,165 (KSEK 588)

*** Fees for legal services to board member has been paid in the form of consulting costs and amounted to KSEK 101 (KSEK 44)

**** The work concerns capital raising, financing, legal and contractual areas
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01/01/2019 – 31/12/2019
KSEK

Basic pay/
Board remu-

neration

Variable 
remunera-

tion
Other remu-

neration
Pension 

costs Total

Chairman of the Board (Bert Junno)
Remuneration from the parent company

317 – 990 – 1,307

Board member (Saad Gilani)
Remuneration from the parent company

158 – 110 – 268

Board member (Mikael Lindstam)
Remuneration from the parent company

158 – 110 – 268

Board member (Theresa Comiskey Olsen)
Remuneration from the parent company

158 – 110 – 268

CEO (Ola Skanung**)
Remuneration from the parent company

– – – – –

CEO (Kjell G Stenberg)
Remuneration from the parent company

1,662 400 – 30 2,062

Sum 2,454 400 1,320 30 4,174

Remuneration from the parent company 2,454 400 1,320 30 4,174

Remuneration to senior executives

Leaving remuneration

The relationship between the company and the former CEO has been settled as of 31 December 2019. 

Bonus to former CEO was paid in 2019 with KSEK 400. Interim CEO received remuneration in accordance 

with a consultancy agreement with a two-month notice period.

The agreement between the Company and the CEO contains a mutual notice period of 6 months. After the 

notice period, the CEO may be entitled to compensation, of a maximum of 60% of salary, for a further 6 months 

if the Company does not claim a non-compete agreement. 

Note 5 – Fees and cost remuneration to accountants

KSEK The Group Parent company

2020 2019* 2020 2019

KPMG AB

Auditing services 119 61 119 100

Other services  – 56 – 69

Tax advices 79 – 79 –

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 30/07/2019-07-30 to 31/12/2019.

Audit services refer to the statutory examination of the annual report and accounting, the management by 

the Board of Directors and the CEO as well as reviews and other examinations executed by agreement or 

according to contracts.

This includes other work normally performed by a company accountant, and advice and other assistance 

stemming from observations made in connection with the above examinations or the performance of other 

similar work.
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Note 6 – Taxes

KSEK The Group Parent company

2020 2019* 2020 2019

Profit/loss before tax -49,000 -17,229 -48,954 -35,166

Tax in accordance with tax rate for the parent company 10,486 3,687 10,476 7,526

Increase in deficit deductions without corresponding 
capitalization of deferred tax

-10,486 -3,687 -10,476 -7,526

Recognised effective tax 0 0 0 0

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 30/07/2019-07-30 to 31/12/2019.

Non reported deferred tax recoverables
Deductible temporary differences and deficit deductions for which deferred tax assets have not been 

reported in the consolidated statement of financial position and in the balance sheet:

• Due to the Group’s activities with considerable research and development costs, it is not liable for tax. 

• At the end of 2020, the Group’s accumulated deficit deductions amounted to MSEK 141 and was attribu-

table to the Group’s Swedish companies.

• The Parent Company’s deficit deductions amounted to MSEK 141. 

Changed tax rates
From 1 January 2019, the tax rate in Sweden is 21.4% for companies with fiscal years beginning on 1 January 

2019 or later. The tax rate is reduced to 20.6% for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Note 7 – Earnings per share

Earnings per share

KSEK Before dilution After dilution

2020 2019* 2020 2019*

Earnings per share -0.96 -0.39 -0.96 -0.86

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 30/07/2019-07-30 to 31/12/2019.

The numerator and denominator used in the above calculation are shown below.

Basic earnings per share

Profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company before dilution

KSEK Total

2020 2019* 2020 2019*

Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the 
Parent Company

-49,000 -17,229 -49,000 -17,229

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Parent 
Company before dilution

-49,000 -17,229 -49,000 -17,229

* Comparative figures for the group consist of the period after the group was established 30/07/2019-07-30 to 31/12/2019.
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Weighted average number of shares amounted to 59,942 (45,331) thousand, which has been affected by the 

exercise of TO3 in 2019 and two rights issues for the year in question. The number of outstanding shares at 

the end of the year was 58,063,400 (49,080,380).

Instruments which can produce future dilution effect and changes after the balance 
sheet date
A total of 6,003,157 warrants of series TO4 have been issued, of which 4,075,000 were issued to investors 

in the Directed Share Issue, and 1,928,157 were issued to the current shareholders in the Company. Each 

warrant of series TO4 will give the holder the right to subscribe for one (1) new share in Cyxone at a sub-

scription price corresponding to 70 percent of the average volume-weighted share price on Nasdaq First 

North Growth Market during the period from 29 April 2021 to 1 May 2021. However, the subscription price 

shall not exceed SEK 7.05 per new share, and not be less than SEK 2.00 per share. The exercise period for 

the subscription of new shares with warrants of series TO4 will be from 17 May 2021 up until 28 May 2021. 

No dilution is relevant until the company achieves a positive result.

Note 8 – Patents, licences, and similar rights

Group

Accumulated acquisition costs

Internally developed immaterial rights

KSEK Patents, licences, and similar assets Total

Opening balance 01/01/2019 14,476 14,476

Other investments 36 36

Closing balance 31/12/2019 14,512 14,512

Opening balance 01/01/2020 14,512 14,512

Acquisition of intangible asset through option 4,751 4,751

Other investments 159 159

Closing balance 31/12/2020 19,422 19,422

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Internally developed immaterial rights

KSEK Patents, licences, and similar assets Total

Opening balance 01/01/2019 -978 -978

Depreciation for the year -1,793 -1,793

Closing balance 31/12/2019 -2,771 -2,771

Opening balance 01/01/2020 -2,771 -2,771

Depreciation for the year -1,796 -1,796

Closing balance 31/12/2020 -4,567 -4,567
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Carrying amounts

Internally developed immaterial rights

KSEK Patents, licences, and similar assets Total

Per 01/01/2019 13,498 13,498

Per 31/12/2019 11,741 11,741

Per 01/01/2020 11,741 11,741

Per 31/21/2020 14,855 14,855

The effect of the acquisition of an intangible asset through an option in 2020

During the second quarter of 2020, Cyxone entered into an agreement with Dr Kalev Kask through which 

the company acquired rights to patent applications for the use of Rabeximod for the treatment of Covid-19 

related symptoms.

The rights were acquired by giving Dr Kalev Kask the right to request that Cyxone conducts a directed sha-

re issue to him or to an investor designated by him. 

Intellectual property rights acquired by a company issuing equity instruments (such as options) to the 

counterparty fall within the scope of application of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments. The acquired intangible 

assets have initially been accounted for at the fair value of the issued option. 

The value of the option has been calculated using Black & Scholes valuation model. 

Variables Value

Market price of underlying asset SEK 4.84 per share. Closing price on 19 May 2020 
when the agreement with Dr. Kask was concluded.

Exercise price SEK 4.45 per share.

Volatility Annualised volatility on 67.8%

Time to maturity 0.3699 years

Parent company

Accumulated acquisition cost

Internally developed immaterial rights

KSEK Patents, licences, and similar assets Total

Opening balance 01/01/2019 14,476 14,476

Other investments 36 36

Closing balance 31/12/2019 14,512 14,512

Opening balance 01/01/2020 14,512 14,512

Acquisition of intangible asset through option 4,751 4,751

Other investments 159 159

Closing balance 31/12/2020 19,422 19,422
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Accumulated depreciation

Internally developed immaterial rights

KSEK Patents, licences, and similar assets Total

Opening balance 01/01/2019 -978 -978

Depreciation for the year -1,793 -1,793

Closing balance 31/12/2019 -2,771 -2,771

Opening balance 01/01/2020 -2,771 -2,771

Depreciation for the year -1,794 -1,794

Closing balance 31/12/2020 -4,565 -4,565

Carrying amounts

Internally developed immaterial rights

KSEK Patents, licences, and similar assets Total

Per 01/01/2019 13,498 13,498

Per 31/12/2019 11,741 11,741

Per 01/01/2020 11,741 11,741

Per 31/12/2020 14,855 14,855

Note 9 – Receivables from group companies

Parent Company

KSEK 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Accumulated acquisition cost

At start of the year 33 –

Purchases 50 33

Closing balance 31 December 83 33

Carrying amount 83 83

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020

Notes 45



Note 10 – Non-current receivables and other current receivables

The Group

KSEK 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Non-current receivables

Deposit 19 –

19 –

Other current receivables

VAT recoverable 540 342

Receivable from the Client Funds Account at the time the company is formed – 957

Other 3 44

Total other receivables that are fixed assets 543 1 343

Parent company

KSEK 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Long-term receivables

Deposit 19 –

19 –

Other receivables (current)

VAT recoverable 535 340

Various other receivables 2 45

537 385

Long-term receivables

KSEK The Group Parent company

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Accumulated acquisition cost

At start of the year 0 – 0 –

Purchases 19 – 19 –

Closing balance 31 December 19 – 19 –

Carrying amount 19 – 19 –

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020

Notes46



Note 11 – Prepaid expenses and accrued income

KSEK The Group Parent company

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Rent 61 7 61 7

Business insurance 78 103 78 103

Cost of capital raising/dealing in shares 185 96 185 96

Pension 61 – 61 –

Other 7 39 7 39

392 245 392 245

Note 12 – Liquid funds

KSEK The Group Parent company

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

The following components are included in liquid funds:

Cash at bank and in hand 56,343 61,756 55,418 61,756

Total as per the statements of financial position 56,343 61,756 55,418 61,756

Total as per the statements of cash flow 56,343 61,756 55,418 61,756

Note 13 – Equity

Types of shares

Thousands of shares
1 Jan - 31 Dec 

2020
1 Jan - 31 Dec 

2019

Ordinary shares 

Issued shares per 1 January 49,080 37,457

Cash issue 8,983 11,623

Issued shares per 31 December – paid 58,063 49,080

As of 31 December 2020, the registered share capital comprised 58,063,400 shares (49,080,380) with a 

quota value of SEK 0.075.
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Parent Company

Restricted equity

Restricted equity may not be reduced by the distribution of dividends.

Non-restricted equity

Together with profit for the year the following funds make up non-restricted equity, i.e., the amount availa-

ble for dividends to the shareholders.

Share premium reserve

When shares are issued at a premium, i.e., when more must be paid for the shares than their nominal price, 

an amount equivalent to the amount received in excess of the share’s nominal value is transferred to the 

share premium reserve. The amount transferred to the share premium reserve starting 1 January 2006 is 

included in unrestricted capital.

Profit brought forward

Consists of the previous year’s profit brought forward and profit less dividends paid out during the year.

The Group

Translation reserve

The translation reserve includes all exchange rate differences that arise when translating financial reports 

from foreign operations that have prepared their financial reports in a currency other than SEK, which is the 

Group’s presentation currency.

Note 14 – Pensions

The Group

Defined-contribution pension plans

In Sweden, the Group funds defined-contribution pension plans for its employees. Payments to these plans 

are made on an ongoing basis pursuant to the respective plan’s rules.

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

The Group

Expenses for defined contribution plans 299 50

Parent Company

Expenses for defined contribution plans 299 50
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Note 15 – Other current liabilities

KSEK The Group Parent company

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Other current liabilities

Other (wage debts, etc.) 458 550 459 550

Total other current liabilities 458 550 459 550

Note 16 – Prepaid expenses and accrued income

KSEK The Group Parent Company

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Holiday pay 287 70 287 70

Board of Director’s fees 288 292 288 292

Social security and other salary-related costs 412 127 412 127

Audit fee 105 105 105 105

Sub-consultants 186 489 186 489

Development expenses 734 – 734 –

Other – 51 – 51

2,012 1,134 2,012 1,134

Note 17 – Financial risks and financial instruments
Through its operations, Cyxone is exposed to liquidity and financing risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and 

credit risk. The Board, together with the CEO, is responsible for the Group’s management of financial risks.

Liquidity and financing risk

The Group’s operations are essentially financed by capital contributed from the shareholders. The Group 

has no loans with creditors, apart from current liabilities such as trade payable. For its continued operations, 

the Group is dependent on capital being provided by the owners. In 2020, Cyxone received SEK 39.7 million 

after costs through two directed share issues.

As of 31 December 2020, Cyxone had 6,003,157 outstanding warrants of series TO4.

Each warrant of series TO4 will give the holder the right to subscribe for one (1) new share in Cyxone at a 

subscription price corresponding to 70 percent of the average volume-weighted share price on Nasdaq 

First North Growth Market during the period from 29 April 2021 to 1 May 2021.

The subscription price shall not exceed SEK 7.05 per new share, and not be less than SEK 2.00 per share.

The exercise period for the subscription of new shares with warrants of series TO4 will be from 17 May 2021 

up until 28 May 2021.
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In 2019, the Group received a total of SEK 59.2 million through the exercise of warrant TO3. 

As of the balance sheet date, cash and cash equivalents amounted to SEK 56.3 (61.8) million.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will face problems meeting its obligations associated with financial 

liabilities.

Set forth below is a term-based analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities. All financial liabilities are of short-

term nature.

Contractual payments of capital amounts and interest

KSEK Nominal amounts 1-3 months 4-6 months 7-12 months

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Trade payables 2,577 1,694 2,577 1,694 0 0 0 0

Other current liabilities 458 550 322 550 136 0 0

Accrued expenses 2,012 1,134 1,195 653 490 376 327 105

Total 5,047 3,378 4,094 2,897 626 376 327 105

Currency risks
The Group is exposed to currency risk through the purchases of services and input materials for research 

and development that are made in different currencies. Purchases are made in EUR, GBP, NOK, CHF, DKK 

and USD.

The Group’s distribution of purchases in 2020 with foreign currency was as follows:

Currency Purchases in 2020
Cost increase/decrease

10%  in KSEK

EUR 1,745,179 1,825

GBP 533,429 642

NOK 103,575 10

CHF 20,050 20

DKK 405,000 57

USD 2,010 2

Total 2,556

A strengthening/weakening of the various currencies against SEK by 10% would have meant a cost increa-

se/decrease of KSEK 2,556 for the Group given the volume of purchases made in 2020.

The Group is also exposed to currency risk when translating receivables and liabilities in foreign currency.

As of the balance sheet date, the Group had the following liabilities per currency.

Valuta Skuld på balansdagen
Kostnadsökning/-minskning  

10 % i KSEK

EUR 168,471 172.0

GBP 5,480 6.1

NOK 3,000 0.3

CHF 1,720 1.6

DKK 89,375 12.1

Total 192.1
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A strengthening/weakening of the currencies against SEK by 10% would have led to a cost increase/de-

crease of 192 KSEK given the liabilities that existed on the balance sheet date.

The Group also has a translation exposure for currency risk through its holding of the subsidiary in Switzer-

land. Changes in the exchange rate between CHF and SEK affect the size of the Group’s net investment in 

the subsidiary. As of December 31, 2020, the Group’s net investment amounted to 955 KSEK. A strengthe-

ning/weakening of CHF against SEK by 10% would increase/decrease the Group’s equity by 96 KSEK.

Interest rate risk
The Group has no interest-bearing liabilities. The exposure to interest rate risk arises instead through cash 

and cash equivalents being placed in an account in a bank where the Group receives variable interest rate. 

However, the Group did not receive any interest on cash and cash equivalents in 2020. An increase in the 

interest rate by 1% would lead to an increase in the interest income of 563 KSEK given the cash and cash 

equivalents available on the balance sheet date.

Credit risk
The group’s credit risk is primarily related to bank deposits. The bank deposits are held in Swedish banks 

with good credit ratings. The Bank has a credit rating of A from S&P Rating.

The reported value of financial assets and financial liabilities per valuation category
The table below shows the reported value for financial assets and financial liabilities broken down by valua-

tion category in IFRS 9. 

KSEK Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

2020 2019 2020 2019

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 56,343 61,756 – –

Other current receivables 543 1,343 – –

Long-term receivables 19 0 – –

Financial assets

Trade payables – – 2,577 1,694

Other current liabilities – – 458 550

Accrued expenses – – 2,012 1,134

Sum 56,886 63,099 5,047 3,378

The fair values of financial instruments
According to management’s assessment, the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value 

for all financial assets and financial liabilities.
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Note 18 – Leases

Leasing contracts where the company is lessee
Amounts stated in the profit or loss

The Group

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Short-term leases 239 126

Non-cancellable leasing payments amount to:

Parent company

KSEK 2020 2019

Within a year 239 126

Between one and five years – –

Longer than five years – –

239 126

Expensed fees amounted to:

Parent company

KSEK 2020 2019

Minimum lease payments 239 126

Variable fees – –

Total leasing cost – –

239 126

Amounts reported in the cash flow report

The Group

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Total cash outflows attributable to leasing agreements 361 81

The above cash outflow includes amounts for short-term leases. 

Note 19 – Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets
No pledged assets, contingent liabilities, and contingent assets.
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Note 20 – Appropriation of the company’s profit or loss

Proposal for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss

Carried forward -62,838

Sum -62,838

Note 21 – Related parties

Related parties
The Parent Company has a close relationship with its subsidiaries; refer to Note 22. 

Summary of transactions with related parties

KSEK
Sale of goods 

and services to 
related parties

Purchases of 
goods and 

services from 
related parties

Other (e.g. 
interest rate, 

dividend)

Receivable from 
related party as 
of 31 December

Liability to rela-
ted party as of  
31 December

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Close relations

Subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 69 32

Transactions with key persons in executive positions

In addition to his Board assignment, the Chairman of the Board, Bert Junno, has also assisted the company 

in connection with contract negotiations with external parties, advice on various financing solutions and 

through work with investor relations. Remuneration for these services in 2020 amounted to SEK 794,000 

(990,000). Furthermore, board member Theresa Comiskey Olsen has, in addition to her board assignment, 

assisted the company with legal services via the company Nova, such as contract writing. Remuneration 

for the services in 2020 amounted to 100,903 (44,961). For more information on remuneration to senior 

executives, see Note 4.

Note 22 – Subsidiaries
The group has 1 subsidiary, namely Cyxone Switzerland AG. Activities primarily take place in the Parent 

Company.
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Note 23 – Group companies

Investments in subsidiaries

KSEK Registered office, country Ownership %

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Cyxone Switzerland AG Basel, Switzerland 100% 100%

Parent company

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Accumulated acquisition cost

At start of the year 955 955

Closing balance 31 December 955 955

Reported value on 31 December 955 955

Note 24 – Specifications for the cash flow statement

Cash and cash equivalents

KSEK 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

The Group

The following components are included in liquid funds:

Cash at bank and in hand 56,343 61,756

Total as per the statements of financial position 56,343 61,756

Parent company

The following components are included in liquid funds:

Cash at bank and in hand 55,418 61,756

Total According to the balance sheet 55,418 61,756

Adjustments for non-cash items, etc

Group Parent company

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Depreciation 1,796 898 1,796 898

1,796 898 1,796 898
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Transactions without payments

The Group Parent Company

KSEK
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019
1 Jan - 31 Dec

2020
30 Jul - 31 Dec

2019

Acquisition of intangible asset through 
option

4 751 – 4 751 –

4 751 – 4 751 –

Note 25 – Events after the balance sheet date
The first Covid-19 patient was screened in a Phase 2 clinical trial of Rabeximod.

Note 26 – Important estimates and assessments
Executive Management has together with the Board of Directors discussed developments, selections and 

information regarding the Group’s important accounting principles and assessments, as well as the appli-

cation of these principles.

Important assessments when applying the Group’s accounting principles
Certain important accounting assessments made when applying the Group’s accounting principles are 

described below.

Expenditure on research and development
Costs for research are immediately booked as an expense. Development expenditure is capitalised only if 

the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, 

future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to, and has sufficient resources to, complete 

development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in the income statement as incurred. 

Due to the great uncertainties in early drug development, the Board has chosen to recognise all expenses 

for research and development as an expense.

Note 27 – Information on Parent Company
Cyxone AB is a Swedish registered limited company domiciled in Malmö. The shares of the Parent Company 

are registered on NASDAQ First North Growth Market Stockholm. The address of the head office is Cyxone AB, 

Adelgatan 21, 211 22 Malmö.

The consolidated accounts for 2020 consist of the parent company and its subsidiary, together referred to as 

the Group.
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Note 28 – Explanations of transitions to IFRS
This financial report for the Group is the first to be prepared in accordance with IFRS, as shown in Note 1.

The transition to RFR 2 for the parent company has been made in accordance with IFRS 1 First-time 

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The transition to RFR 2 did not affect the parent 

company’s opening balance as of 1 January 2019. The transition has also not had any effect on the parent 

company’s income statement, balance sheet, cash flow analysis and report on changes in equity for 2019, 

except for the calculation of earnings per share, see below.

Earnings per share
In regard to the transition to RFR 2 for the parent company, earnings per share were calculated for the first 

time in accordance with IAS 33. This affected the average number of outstanding shares during previous 

periods and accordingly also earnings per share.

Earnings per share as  
previously reported (SEK)

Earnings per share recalculated  
in accordance with IAS 33 (SEK)

Jan-Mar 2019 -0.18 -0.18

Apr-Jun 2019 -0.18 -0.18

Jul-Sep 2019 -0.34 -0.33

Oct-Dec 2019 -0.20 -0.18

Jan-Jun 2019 -0.36 -0.36

Jan-Sep 2019 -0.70 -0.69

Jan-Dec 2019 -0.71 -0.86

Jan-Mar 2020 -0.21 -0.21

Apr-Jun 2020 -0.29 -0.29

Jul-Sep 2020 -0.25 -0.26

Jan-Jun 2020 -0.50 -0.50

Jan-Sep 2020 -0.75 -0.75
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The Boards of Directors’ Certificate
The Board and CEO assure that the Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with good accounting 

practices in Sweden and the consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with International 

Accounting Standards, stated in the regulation of the European Parliament and the Council of Ministers 

(EG) no 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002, concerning the application of international accounting standards. The 

Annual Report and the consolidated accounts give a true and fair view of the parent company as well as 

of the Group’s position and result. The management report for the parent company and the Group gives a 

true and fair view of the parent company’s and Group’s business development, position, and result. It also 

describes the major risks and uncertainty factors facing the parent company and Group companies.

The Annual Report and the consolidated accounts have been approved for publication by the Board of 

Directors and the Chief Executive Officer on 7 April 2021. The consolidated income statement and balance 

sheet and parent company income statement and balance sheet will be presented for adoption by the 

AGM on 3 June 2021.

Bert Junno
Chairman of the Board

Saad Gilani
Board Member

Tara Heitner
CEO

Mikael Lindstam
Board Member

Theresa Comiskey Olsen
Board Member

Camilla Alm Andersson
Lead Auditor

Therese Johansson
Authorized Public Accountant

We submitted our Audit Report on April 8, 2021 

KPMG AB
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Auditor’s Report
To the general meeting of the shareholders of Cyxone AB (publ.), corp. id 559020-5471 

Report on the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts

Opinions 
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated ac-

counts of Cyxone AB (publ.) for the year 2020. The company’s 

annual report and consolidated accounts are included on 

pages 18-57 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in ac-

cordance with the Annual Accounts Act, and present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of the parent com-

pany as of 31 December 2020 and its financial performance 

and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with the 

Annual Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been 

prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and 

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the group as of 31 December 2020 and their financial perfor-

mance and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 

adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statuto-

ry administration report is consistent with the other parts of 

the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of sha-

reholders adopts the income statement and balance sheet 

for the parent company and the statement of comprehensive 

income and statement of financial position for the group.

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing 

standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those stan-

dards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

section. We are independent of the parent company and the 

group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants 

in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsi-

bilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions

Other Information
Without modifying our statements, we would like to draw 

the reader’s attention to the description in the administration 

report under the section Outlook, including significant risks 

and uncertainties, where the board submits its assessment 

regarding available liquidity and financing linked to various 

assumptions. It is also noted that the valuation of the patents 

is based on assumptions made about financing, including 

continued operation.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 

responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts and 

consolidated accounts and that they give a fair presentation 

in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and, concer-

ning the consolidated accounts, in accordance with IFRS as 

adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and the Managing 

Director are also responsible for such internal control as they 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 

accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from mate-

rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated ac-

counts The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 

responsible for the assessment of the company’s and the 

group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They disclose, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting. The going concern basis 

of accounting is however not applied if the Board of Directors 

and the Managing Director intend to liquidate the company, to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 

our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assuran-

ce, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accor-

dance with ISAs and generally accepted auditing standards 

in Sweden will always detect a material misstatement when 

it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic de-

cisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts 

and consolidated accounts. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• α obtain an understanding of the company’s internal control 

relevant to our audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the company’s internal control. 

• α evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the Board of Directors and the 

Managing Director.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ 

and the Managing Director’s, use of the going concern 

basis of accounting in preparing the annual accounts and 

consolidated accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, as to whether any material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the company’s and the group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

in the annual accounts and consolidated accounts or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion 

about the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 

or conditions may cause a company and a group to cease 

to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 

the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including 

the disclosures, and whether the annual accounts and 

consolidated accounts represent the underlying transac-

tions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regar-

ding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the group to express an opinion on the 

consolidated accounts. We are responsible for the direc-

tion, supervision and performance of the group audit. We 

remain solely responsible for our opinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other mat-

ters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also 

inform of significant audit findings during our audit, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified.

Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements

Opinions 
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolida-

ted accounts, we have also audited the administration of the 

Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Cyxone AB 

(publ.) for the year 2020 and the proposed appropriations of 

the company’s profit or loss. 

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that 

the loss be dealt with in accordance with the proposal in the 

statutory administration report and that the members of the 

Board of Directors and the Managing Director be discharged 

from liability for the financial year.

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accep-

ted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Respon-

sibilities section. We are independent of the parent company 

and the group in accordance with professional ethics for 

accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-

cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for 

appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal 

of a dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the 

dividend is justifiable considering the requirements which the 

company’s and the group’s type of operations, size and risks 

place on the size of the parent company’s and the group’s 

equity, consolidation requirements, liquidity and position in 

general. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s 

organization and the administration of the company’s affairs. 

This includes among other things continuous assessment of 

the company’s and the group’s financial situation and ensuring 

that the company’s organization is designed so that the ac-

counting, management of assets and the company’s financial 

affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassuring manner.
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The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing adminis-

tration according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and 

instructions and among other matters take measures that are 

necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting in accordance 

with law and handle the management of assets in a reass-

uring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 

thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain 

audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assu-

rance whether any member of the Board of Directors or the 

Managing Director in any material respect: 

• α has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission 

which can give rise to liability to the company, or 

• α in any other way has acted in contravention of the Com-

panies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of 

Association. 

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropri-

ations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion 

about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance 

whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with gener-

ally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect 

actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to the com-

pany, or that the proposed appropriations of the company’s 

profit or loss are not in accordance with the Companies Act. 

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 

auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional jud-

gment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 

audit. The examination of the administration and the proposed 

appropriations of the company’s profit or loss is based prima-

rily on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit procedures 

performed are based on our professional judgment with star-

ting point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus the 

examination on such actions, areas and relationships that are 

material for the operations and where deviations and violations 

would have particular importance for the company’s situation. 

We examine and test decisions undertaken, support for deci-

sions, actions taken and other circumstances that are relevant 

to our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a basis 

for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed appropria-

tions of the company’s profit or loss we examined whether the 

proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

KPMG AB
Camilla Alm Andersson 

Authorized Public Accountant 

Lead Auditor

KPMG AB
Therese Johansson 

Authorized Public Accountant

Malmö, April 8, 2021
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“Together with our experienced scientific advisors, we can 
ensure that the further development of our drug pro-
grams is performed in a way that builds most value for 
both patients and our shareholders. The pandemic has 
meant both challenges and opportunities for Cyxone.”

Tara Heitner, CEO Cyxone

 61

Cyxone AB | Annual Report 2020



Cyxone AB (publ.) | Corp. reg. no. 559020-5471 | Adelgatan 21, 211 22 Malmö, Sweden

+46 708 88 21 72  | info@cyxone.com | cyxone.com


